MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

between

CITY OF MEMPHIS

and the

IUPAT, PAINTERS UNION

Local # 49



Effective July 1, 2021 Through June 30, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ARTICLE	PAGE
	Preamble	3
Article 1	Recognition	3
Article 2	City Responsibility	
Article 3	No Strike, No Lock Out	
Article 4	Union Representation	
Article 5	Hours of Work	
Article 6	Standby and Call Back Pay	9
Article 7	Overtime	10
Article 8	Holidays	11
Article 9	Vacation	12
Article 10	Sick Leave	15
Article 11	Paid Leaves of Absences	16
Article 12	Death of an Employee	18
Article 13	On-The-Job Injury	18
Article 14	Life Insurance	19
Article 15	Healthcare Insurance	19
Article 16	Pension	19
Article 17	Seniority	20
Article 18	Grievances	
Article 19	General Provisions	
Article 20	Discipline and Discharge	29
Article 21	Tuition Reimbursement	31
Article 22	Terms of Agreement/	
	Spending Clause	32
	Appendix "A"	33
	Recognized Classifications.	33
	Wages	33
	Shift Premium	35
	Uniform Provisions	35
	Signature Page	

PREAMBLE

This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into by and between the City of Memphis, Tennessee, hereinafter referred to as the "City", and the IUPAT, Painters, local # 49, hereinafter referred to as the "Union." It is the purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding to assure harmonious relations between the City and the Union and to provide for equitable and peaceful adjustment of differences which may arise related to wages, hours and other conditions of employment, in accordance with the Labor Policy as established by Resolution of the City of Memphis, March 4, 1969.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

- (A) The City of Memphis recognizes the Union as the designated representative for certain employees who are assigned to the classifications specified in Appendix "A" of this Memorandum. Recognition is extended for the purpose of conferences and meetings on wages, hours and conditions of employment to the full extent and authority provided by the Charter of the City of Memphis and the laws of the State of Tennessee.
- (B) The term "certain employees" as used herein places no limitations, requirements or restrictions on the right of any employee to belong to and to be represented by the Union. All supervisory personnel above Layoutman shall be excluded from the provisions of this Memorandum: however, the City agrees that when a supervisor's vacancy exists in a department or division employing a significant number of Journeymen, or layoutmen, the City will give first consideration to those journeymen, or layoutmen who are capable of fulfilling supervisory responsibilities and who qualify in accordance with Civil Service Rules. The City shall give first consideration to filling a layoutman position from among the journeymen employed.

(C) Both parties to this Memorandum agree that slowdowns, forcing of overtime through non-production during regular working hours, spread work tactics, stand-by crews and featherbedding practices are condemned and shall not be allowed to exist.

SECTION 2

No benefit or benefits presently guaranteed by the City Charter shall be lost or reduced as a result of this Memorandum of Understanding.

SECTION 3

Should any article, section or portion of this Memorandum of Understanding be held unlawful and unenforceable by any Court of competent and final jurisdiction such decision of the Court shall apply only to the specific article, section or portion involved and shall not invalidate the remaining portions of this Memorandum of Understanding. The parties shall there upon meet in order to negotiate substitute provisions which are in conformity with the applicable law and directly related to the provisions that have been held unlawful.

ARTICLE 2 CITY RESPONSIBILITY

- (A) Nothing in this Memorandum of Understanding shall be interpreted as abrogating the authority vested in the City for the exclusive management, control and operation of all City divisions.
- (B) The City has the exclusive right, among others, to determine the purpose and duties of its divisions: to set the standard of services to be offered to its citizens; to enter into any contracts for City business: and to exercise control and discretion over its organization and employees so long as the determination does not violate this Memorandum of Understanding.

- (C) Included in the City's rights: To direct its employees; to hire, promote, assign or retain employees in positions and locations of all City divisions; to select its managerial and supervisory employees; to establish reasonable work rules; to suspend, demote, discharge or take other appropriate disciplinary action against its employees for just cause; to determine job qualifications in classifications to determine the number of employees required at any time; to maintain the efficiency of operation; to assure maintenance of service during emergency conditions; to determine the methods, means, tools and personnel by which operations are to be carried out; to relieve its employees from duty in the event of lack of work, funds, or for other legitimate reasons; and to determine work schedules, hours and the number of shifts.
- (D) The Union recognizes the City's authority in making new work rules and changing work rules. The City recognizes the importance of informing employees about these matters as early as feasible, and shall discuss any changes in work rules with the proper Union in advance of said change, except when prevented by unforeseen circumstances, such as civil disorder, or other emergencies, provided however, that nothing contained in this Article shall be deemed to deny the right to submit a grievance concerning the application of this Memorandum of Understanding or a claimed violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of the rules and regulations affecting the terms and conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 3 NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT

SECTION 1

(A) In order to assure continuation of services to the public, there shall be no strikes, slowdowns, sick outs, work stoppages of any kind, nor shall there be any lockouts because of grievances or disputes arising from the administration of this Memorandum of Understanding.

5

- (B) The members of the Union recognize, therefore, that participating in a strike as defined herein shall subject the member or members to immediate and permanent dismissal.
- (C) During the term of this Memorandum of Understanding, the Union agrees that it will not engage in, encourage or approve any strike, slowdown, or other work stoppage growing out of any dispute related to the terms of this Memorandum of Understanding. The City agrees that it will not lock out employees during the term of this Memorandum of Understanding. Labor disputes which do not involve the parties involved in this Memorandum of Understanding shall have no effect on the employees covered by this Memorandum of Understanding and failure to report to work or to accept work assignments as provided shall be considered a violation of this Article. The Union may grieve as to whether an employee actually violated the Article and to his degree of participation in such action.
- (D) The above provisions are not intended, nor will the City use these provisions to abrogate an individual employee's rights which are guaranteed by the Constitution and Laws of the United States.

ARTICLE 4 UNION REPRESENTATION

- (A) The Union Business Representative shall appoint a Steward in accordance with the Union's need for representation within each City Division. The Steward shall be a qualified worker performing the work of his or her craft. The Steward shall not be discriminated against in the performance of the duties as Steward.
- (B) The Steward shall be allowed sufficient time during normal working hours to perform the duties as Steward, such as checking dues receipts and discussing grievances with the grievant and the Supervisor. Providing the City and the Steward have exhausted all options to resolve disputes during the Steward's

normal shift, and if the City <u>requires</u> the Steward, after the completion of a normal shift, to return to the job to discuss or resolve any dispute, the Steward shall receive call-back pay at the applicable rate as outlined in Article 6, Section 1 of this Memorandum of Understanding.

(C) An alternate Steward shall be designated by the Steward. The alternate Steward shall perform all duties as provided above, only in the absence of the Steward or if the Steward is the aggrieved employee.

SECTION 2

The Union Business Representative only shall be permitted to visit any work location carrying out responsibility as a party to this Memorandum of Understanding, but shall not interfere with the work in progress. As a courtesy, reasonable efforts will be made to notify the working supervisor in that area.

SECTION 3

Employees will be at their assigned common meeting place at the regular starting time and shall report back to this point at the regular quitting time. The Division Director in whose division the employee is assigned shall make these determinations. Employees who are assigned a City vehicle for transportation to and from home, however, may at the direction of their supervisor, report directly to the job site.

SECTION 4

(A) When the City requests prospective employees to be furnished by the Union, it will notify the Union Hall at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of its needs and request referrals. Referrals will be made to the City Employment Manager for the initial screening and selected referrals will be required to pass a pre-employment physical examination prior to being placed on the City payroll. The final selection, however, of any qualified referral rests with the designated Department Manager.

7

(B) The Union agrees to make every effort to furnish competent journeyman craftsmen when requested without discrimination to race, religion, color, sex or national origin and shall provide a copy of its affirmative action program to the City. The City shall at all times be the sole judge as to the work performed by its employees and whether the work is satisfactory.

SECTION 5

The City agrees to assign work in accordance with established practices. When jurisdictional disputes arise, the Division Director, Human Resources Director, and Business Representatives of the respective Unions shall meet to resolve the issue. Previous trade rulings shall be used as a guide in reaching a decision based upon the national board for jurisdictional awards as approved by the national building and construction trades.

ARTICLE 5 HOURS OF WORK

- (A) Eight (8) consecutive hours of work within a twenty-four (24) hour day shall constitute a normal work shift. A normal work week is Monday through Friday and shall consist of five (5) consecutive such work shifts, or forty (40) hours per week.
- (B) All employees shall be granted a thirty (30) minute paid meal period during each work shift and one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid rest period during each one-half (1/2) shift.
- (C) Employees on the third shift shall be allowed to select the time for their thirty (30) minute lunch period. The meal shall be scheduled as near as possible to the middle of the shift.

- (D) Rest periods are intended to be a recess preceded and followed by a work period. Consequently, it may not be used to allow late arrival or early departure or to extend the lunch period.
- (E) The City may, at its discretion, schedule shifts of ten (10) consecutive work hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period, the normal work week consisting of four (4) consecutive work days, Monday through Friday.
- (F) If the employee's regular shift is permanently changed, the City will give the employee fourteen (14) calendar days notice.

ARTICLE 6 STANDBY AND CALL BACK PAY

SECTION 1 - CALL BACK PAY

Employees who leave the premises after completing their regular shift and are called back to work before their next regular shift shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours pay or four (4) hours work. All call back time shall be at the applicable rate of pay.

SECTION 2 - STANDBY PAY

Any employee required by the supervisor to remain at home or any designated place shall be compensated two (2) hours straight time pay for each eight (8) hours he/she is required to stand by. Employees required to stand by shall have written authorization from his Supervisor. Pay for such hours shall not be counted as hours worked for purposes of overtime.

SECTION 3 - REPORTING EARLY

When employees are called by their supervisor to report before the regular starting time of their assigned shift and such work assignment extends into the regularly scheduled shift, all hours worked prior to the normal starting time shall be treated as overtime, in accordance with Article 7, Overtime.

ARTICLE 7 OVERTIME

- (A) The overtime rate shall be one and one-half (1 ½) times the base rate for all hours actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week. City-scheduled holidays shall be considered as time worked. If the City requires the services of an employee who is taking a scheduled vacation or bonus day, such time will be considered as time worked. Employee must be called in within the twenty-four (24) hour period of the vacation or bonus day to qualify for such time accumulation. Management will attempt to avoid such action. If required, however, the rules of seniority will not apply.
- (B) Overtime shall not be scheduled nor required except when deemed necessary by the Division Director or his/her designee to assure a continuation of support services in meeting the City's responsibilities to its citizens. An attempt shall be made by the Employer to schedule overtime equally among the employees when practical and reasonable. Scheduled overtime shall be offered beginning with the "low man" on the current overtime list, and proceeding upward until someone accepts the work. All those refusing overtime will be charged with all overtime hours earned by the person that worked. A current overtime list shall be posted on all bulletin boards.
- (C) Employees working overtime may, by mutual agreement, be given time off in lieu of pay. Time off will be at the applicable rate as shown in Section 1, paragraph (1) above or as required by the Fair Labor Standards Act.

ARTICLE 8 HOLIDAYS

SECTION 1

(A) The following days shall be recognized and observed as paid holidays during the term of this Memorandum:

NEW YEAR'S DAY	JANUARY 1 st
MLK BIRTHDAY DAY	3rd MONDAY IN JANUARY
PRESIDENT'S DAY*	3 RD MONDAY IN FEBRUARY
MLK MEMORIAL	APRIL 4th
GOOD FRIDAY	FRIDAY BEFORE EASTER
MEMORIAL DAY	LAST MONDAY IN MAY
INDEPENDENCE DAY	JULY 4 th
LABOR DAY	1 st MONDAY IN SEPTEMBER
VETERAN'S DAY*	NOVEMBER 11 TH
THANKSGIVING DAY	4 th THURSDAY IN NOVEMBER
FRIDAY AFTER THANKSGIVING	FRIDAY AFTER 4 th THURSDAY IN NOVEMBER
CHRISTMAS EVE	DECEMBER 24th
CHRISTMAS DAY	DECEMBER 25 th

- (B) Holidays shall count as hours worked. Whenever one of the above holidays fall on either Saturday or Sunday, either the preceding Friday or the following Monday shall be observed as the holiday. Employees will be notified as far in advance as possible concerning the day to be observed as the holiday. If the holiday falls on the employee's regular day off, the employee will receive an additional eight (8) hours pay for that holiday. If the holiday falls on the employee's scheduled vacation, additional time (or an additional day's pay) will be granted.
- (C) Holiday pay will not be allowed if the employee did not work and was not

excused the last scheduled work day before and the next scheduled work day after the holiday. Employees will be paid at straight time rate of pay for holidays not worked during a time of illness or accident, but such a day will not be charged against sick leave except as described in Article 10.

* Holiday becomes effective January 1, 2007.

ARTICLE 9 VACATION

SECTION 1

(A) Employees shall be granted an annual paid vacation in accordance with the City of Memphis Code of Ordinances, Article 1, Section 2-1 "Paid Vacation for Full-time City Employees." Vacation time should be used within the same calendar year it is accrued. In the event of extenuating circumstances, when an employee cannot use vacation leave within the same calendar year, vacation leave may be carried over in the next calendar year according to the guidelines in the Vacation Leave Policy (PM 46-02) in the City's Personnel Policy Manual.

VACATION LEAVE ACCRUAL

SERVICE CREDIT	ACCRUAL	EXPLANATION
Up to 6 months	None	N/A
6-month anniversary	<mark>8</mark> days (<mark>64</mark> hours)	N/A
1-year anniversary (during 2 nd calendar year)	5 days (40 hours) 10 days (80 hours)	if hired on/after July 1 if hired before July 1
3 rd , 4 th , and 5 th calendar year	<mark>13</mark> days (<mark>104</mark> hours)	13 days accrue at beginning of year
6 th calendar year	<mark>14</mark> days (<mark>112</mark> hours)	13 days accrue at beginning of year; 14 th day accrues on 6-year anniversary
7 th calendar year	<mark>15</mark> days (<mark>120</mark> hours)	14 days accrue at beginning of year; 15 th day accrues on 7-year anniversary
8 th calendar year	<mark>16</mark> days (<mark>128</mark> hours)	15 days accrue at beginning of year; 16 th day accrues on 8-year anniversary
9 th calendar year	<mark>17</mark> days (<mark>136</mark> hours)	16 days accrue at beginning of year; 17 th day accrues on 9-year anniversary
10 th calendar year	<mark>18</mark> days (<mark>144</mark> hours)	17 days accrue at beginning of year; 18 th day accrues on 10-year anniversary
11 th calendar year	<mark>19</mark> days (<mark>152</mark> hours)	18 days accrue at beginning of year; 19 th day accrues on 11-year anniversary

12 th calendar year	20 days (<mark>160</mark> hours)	19 days accrue at beginning of year; 20 th day accrues on 12-year anniversary
13 th calendar year	21 days (<mark>168</mark> hours)	20 days accrue at beginning of year; 21 st day accrues on 13-year anniversary
14 th calendar year	<mark>22</mark> days (<mark>176</mark> hours)	21 days accrue at beginning of year; 22 nd day accrues on 14-year anniversary
15 th calendar year	<mark>23</mark> days (<mark>184</mark> hours)	22 days accrue at beginning of year; 23 rd day accrues on 15-year anniversary
16 th calendar year	<mark>23</mark> days (<mark>184</mark> hours)	23 days accrue at beginning of year
17 th calendar year	24 days (<mark>192</mark> hours)	23 days accrue at beginning of year; 24 th day accrues on 17-year anniversary
18 th calendar year	<mark>24</mark> days (<mark>192</mark> hours)	24 days accrue at beginning of year
19 th calendar year	25 days (200 hours)	24 days accrue at beginning of year; 25 th day accrues on 19-year anniversary
20 th calendar year	<mark>25</mark> days (<mark>200</mark> hours)	25 days accrue at beginning of year
21 st calendar year	26 days (<mark>208</mark> hours)	25 days accrue at beginning of year; 26 th day accrues on 21-year anniversary
22 nd calendar year	<mark>26</mark> days (<mark>208</mark> hours)	26 days accrue at beginning of year
23 rd calendar year	27 days (216 hours)	26 days accrue at beginning of year; 27 th day accrues on 23-year anniversary
24 th calendar year	<mark>27</mark> days (<mark>216</mark> hours)	27 days accrue at beginning of year
25 th calendar year	28 days (224 hours)	27 days accrue at beginning of year; 28 th day accrues on 25-year anniversary

EXAMPLE 1 (hired on/after July 1):

Date of Employment:	<mark>12/15/2021</mark>	
6-month anniversary:	<mark>06/15/2022</mark>	(Accrues <mark>8</mark> days to be used by <mark>12/31/2022</mark> *)
1-year anniversary:	<mark>12/15/2022</mark>	(Accrues 5 days to be used by 12/31/2022*)
Beginning of 3 rd calendar year:	<mark>01/01/2023</mark>	(Accrues <mark>13</mark> days to be used by <mark>12/31/2023</mark> *)
EXAMPLE 2 (hired before July 1):		
Date of Employment:	<mark>06/15/2022</mark>	
6-month anniversary:	<mark>12/15/2022</mark>	(Accrues <mark>8</mark> days to be used by <mark>12/31/2022</mark> *)
1-year anniversary:	<mark>06/15/2023</mark>	(Accrues <mark>13</mark> days to be used by <mark>12/31/2023</mark> *)
Beginning of 3 rd calendar year:	<mark>01/01/2024</mark>	(Accrues <mark>13</mark> days to be used by <mark>12/31/2023</mark> *)

*unless carried over to following year per policy.

(B) The rate of vacation pay shall be the employee's regular straight time rate of pay in effect for the employee's classification on the payday immediately preceding the employee's vacation period, except when a wage increase occurs pursuant to this agreement on July 1 of any year in which this memorandum is in effect, then the employee will receive the regular straight time rate of pay in effect for the employee's classification on the day(s) the employee actually takes vacation. Any adjustment to the employee's wage rate during an employee's vacation will be paid on the employee's next pay period.

- (C) Upon request submitted no less than four (4) days in advance of the date of vacation, an employee shall receive vacation pay no later than one (1) day prior to the start of his/her vacation.
- (D) Vacations will be granted as far as possible in accordance with employee preference and in line of departmental seniority but the number of employees off on vacation in a given week shall be determined by the City to assure orderly operation of the respective departments. However, when a dispute arises between employees in the same classification, (the City shall allow the senior employee to have first choice). There shall be a posted vacation schedule no later than January 15th of each year in order to permit employees to express their choice of vacation by April 1st and the list shall contain the number of employees may split their vacation and take up to one half of their annual paid vacation days, one (1) day at a time if they desire. However, such selection shall be mutually agreed to. Vacation shall be posted no later than April 30th, with the exception of the five (5) days that may be taken one half (.5) day at a time.

SECTION 2

An employee who becomes ill while on vacation and whose illness is substantiated by a physician's statement may upon release by the employee's attending physician, have that portion of vacation which was interrupted by illness rescheduled. It shall be the employee's responsibility to report said illness to the supervisor at the earliest possible date and present a physician's statement upon return to work.

ARTICLE 10 SICK LEAVE

SECTION 1

(A) Upon completion of three (3) months of consecutive service after initial employment, all regular, full-time employees shall be eligible to receive pay while absent from work due to sickness to be charged against accumulated sick leave time per Personnel Policy Manual, PM 46-03, "Sick Leave."

Unlimited accumulation of sick leave begins from the first day of employment:

Service Credit	Accrual Rate Effective Date	Accrual Rate Per Month
Up to 5 years	First month of employment	1 day (8 hours)
5 years up to 9 years	First month after 5-year anniversary	11/2 days (12 hours)
9 years up to 14 years	First month after 9-year anniversary	2 days (16 hours)
14 years or more	First month after 14-year anniversary	21/2 days (20 hours)

EXAMPLE:

Date of Employment:	12/15/2001	(Accrues 1 day per month)*
5-year anniversary:	12/15/2006	(Accrues 1 ¹ / ₂ days per month beginning 01/15/2007)
9-year anniversary:	12/15/2010	(Accrues 2 days per month beginning 01/15/2011)
14-year anniversary:	12/15/2015	(Accrues 2 ¹ / ₂ days per month beginning 01/15/2016)

*New employees are only eligible to use accrued sick leave time after two consecutive calendar months of employment.

- (B) Sick leave will not accumulate while an employee is absent on sick leave fifteen
 (15) days or longer, unauthorized absence, or during other leaves of absences.
- (C) Pay for holidays that occur while an employee is on sick leave shall not be charged as sick leave.

SECTION 2

Employees shall be compensated in cash for accumulated unused sick leave when they retire, but not to exceed seventy-five (75) days. The amount of payment for unused sick leave is to be calculated at the employee's rate of pay in effect on the payday immediately preceding the employee's retirement. Such payment shall not be counted as compensation for the purpose of computing retirement benefits.

SECTION 3

It is agreed that for purposes of determining posted accumulated days of sick leave that the employee's seniority on July 1, 1969, shall be used in the initial calculation with accumulation rates since July 1, 1969, to be in accordance with City Policy. An employee with more than ten (10) years of seniority as of July 1, 1969, shall be credited with 120 days sick leave on that date and employees with less than ten (10) years shall be credited with an accumulated rate equal to the actual number of months of City service. All sick leave accumulated after July 1, 1969, will be according to accumulation rates based on City Policy from July 1, 1969 to July 1, 1975.

ARTICLE 11 PAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Leave of absence with pay may be granted to regular employees for the following reasons:

SECTION 1 - SUMMER TRAINING

Reservists and National Guard members being called for the customary two-week tour of duty shall be excused on presentation of their orders and shall receive eight (8) hours pay at the regular rate of pay for each working day served, up to a maximum of fifteen (15) days per year.

SECTION 2 - JURY AND WITNESS DUTY

Regular employees shall be granted a leave of absence with pay any time they are required for jury duty or witness service. Proof of jury service shall be established by submitting a statement from the jury commissioner or clerk of the court showing the time served. An employee shall be paid for time lost from scheduled work when legally subpoenaed as a witness to testify in court cases when the employee is neither the plaintiff nor the defendant. Employees shall also be paid for time lost from scheduled work as a witness for the City or when sued as an agent of the City. The employee must report for work when the jury is not in session or within a reasonable time if the jury service lasts less than four (4) hours a day.

SECTION 3 - DEATH IN FAMILY

(A) In the event of a death in the employee's immediate family, full wages will be paid for scheduled days of work from which the employee is necessarily absent because of the death, but not beyond a maximum of three (3) days.

Immediate family includes husband, wife, mother, father, brother, sister, son, daughter, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandfather, grandmother, grandchildren, great-grandfather, great-grandmother and also properly established foster parents if employee lived in household. Additional time may be granted as leave without pay or as paid vacation when justified by circumstances.

- (B) Employees will be given two (2) days off with pay if funeral is on a work day for grandparents-in-law, brother or sister-in-law, son or daughter-in-law, grandchildren of your legal spouse, or any relationships listed in this Section which are created by legal adoption.
 - Deleted Section 4-Personal Leave becomes effective January 1, 2007.

ARTICLE 12 DEATH OF AN EMPLOYEE

SECTION 1

- (A) In the event of the death of a regular employee, while employed by the City, accumulated sick days up to seventy-five (75) days, all accrued wages due, including allowances for unpaid holidays and vacation time. For employees who die subsequent to July 1, 2013, \$5,000 no-cost Death Benefit, are to be paid to the person entitled thereto as designated by the employee, or by law.
- (B) In addition, the person entitled as designated, or by law, will receive an amount equivalent to the employee's regular wages for one (1) month after the legally required deductions.

ARTICLE 13 ON-THE-JOB INJURY

- (A) In the event any employee sustains an injury on the job, the employee shall be taken directly to the nearest facility where proper medical treatment can be obtained. The cost of the necessary hospital, doctor's care, prescriptions, and related medical expenses shall be paid by the City for all on-the-job injuries, provided that the employee shall assign to the City those recoveries from any third party only to the extent necessary to reimburse the City for the expense paid. This assignment shall exclude the proceeds from any insurance policy solely paid for by the employee. Nothing shall deny an employee injured on the job who has been taken to the nearest doctor or facility for proper treatment from requesting the doctor of his or her choice.
- (B) All on-the-job injuries are subject to the OJI policies, rules, and procedures applicable to all City of Memphis employees per Personnel Manual, PM 46-08, "On-the-Job Injury."

(C) Employees injured on the job may be assigned to light duty, if available, based upon the employee's physician's written advice, and approved by the Division Director.

ARTICLE 14 LIFE INSURANCE

Life insurance is offered to regular, full-time employees covered under this Memorandum of Understanding as an optional benefit per City of Memphis Personnel Manual, PM 42-02, "Life Insurance."

ARTICLE 15 HEALTHCARE INSURANCE

For employees who are covered under the City's Health Insurance Plan (Medical), the City will contribute a percentage of the total premiums as set by Council. Currently, the percentages approved by Council calls for the City to pay 70 percent and employees 30 percent. The City reserves the right to recommend modifications to the Medical Plan to ensure it comports to all applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, as amended from time to time and does not subject the City to any penalties or taxes.

ARTICLE 16 PENSION

The City Pension Ordinance applies to members of this bargaining unit. The rate of contribution by the employee and benefit received by employees shall be that which is specified in the pension ordinances adopted by the Memphis City Council.

ARTICLE 17 SENIORITY

SECTION 1

- (A) Seniority shall be granted to all regular, full-time employees. A regular, full-time employee is defined as an employee who has been continuously employed with the City of Memphis on a full-time basis and who is receiving all benefits guaranteed by the Memorandum of Understanding and benefits presently guaranteed by the City of Memphis Charter and laws of the State of Tennessee. Seniority shall be determined on the basis of actual length of continuous service from the latest date of regular employment with the City.
- (B) All new employees shall be considered probationary for six (6) months from their last date of hire. However, the Director of Human Resources will consider a request for extension of an employee's initial and/or administrative probationary period based only upon extenuating circumstances, such as illness of the employee, OJI, maternity, or military leave. During such probationary period, employees may be discharged without constituting a breach of this Memorandum. At the end of their probationary period, employees shall be placed on the seniority list, as of their first date of last employment. For the purpose of layoff, the exercise of shift preference, and permanent transfers, seniority shall be determined by the length of service by classification.

SECTION 2

An employee shall lose seniority for the following reasons:

- (A) Quits job.
- (B) Discharge for a just cause.
- (C) Is absent for three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the supervisor.
- (D) Is laid off for one (1) year.

- (E) Fails to report to work on the first working day after the expiration of vacation, or authorized leave of absence, unless notification is given according to Sub-Section C above.
- (F) Fails to notify the City within ten (10) working days of the date the recall letter is mailed, stating whether or not the employee intends to report to work after the layoff.

SECTION 3

Layoffs shall begin with those employees having the least seniority. Employees shall be recalled according to seniority in the inverse order of layoff. In the case of reduction of force or elimination of a position, seniority shall govern on a classification basis as provided in Section 1, provided the employee is qualified to perform the work involved.

- (A) The employer may make temporary transfers of employees to positions other than those they normally performed in order to meet the requirements of the operation of the Department.
- (B) Employees temporarily transferred shall be paid either the rate of the position from which they are transferred or the rate of the position to which they are transferred, whichever is higher, for all hours actually worked at the transferred position.
- (C) Temporary transfers shall be for a period of not longer than thirty (30) working days.
- (D) Temporary transfers between two divisions shall be mutually agreed upon by the current Division Director and the employee affected by such transfer. In the event

that all employees in the classification decline such transfer, the transfer will be based upon seniority.

(E) A Temporary employee is defined as one who is employed by the City of Memphis in any position that is not regular, full-time and whose employment does not exceed 1040 hours in a twelve (12) month period. Such employment may, however, at the discretion of the City be extended an additional 320 hours, if required.

SECTION 5

Notice of all vacancies and/or new jobs shall be posted for all personnel on all employees' bulletin boards within three (3) days following the occurrence of the vacancies of all jobs or the establishment of new jobs, during which time employees may make application within three (3) business days to the Employment Manager in the City Human Resources Division.

SECTION 6

The regular filling of any vacancy shall be on a basis of seniority and qualifications and subject to Civil Service regulations and shall be subject to reopening for consideration to those employees who were at the time of posting on sick leave, military training leave, or on vacation not to exceed fifteen (15) days. Said employees shall make application for the position within three (3) working days after returning to work.

SECTION 7

The agreed-to seniority lists shall be provided by the employer. Relevant personnel records shall be available at all reasonable times.

SECTION 8

When advancement opportunities occur, they shall be filled with the senior most qualified City employee. In the event that vacancies cannot be filled in accordance with the above provisions, the position may be filled by other means.

22

SECTION 9

The stewards, designated in writing by the Union, shall have the highest seniority among Union members in their respective classifications for lay-offs, recall, and transfer purposes only during their tenures of office.

ARTICLE 18 GRIEVANCES

SECTION 1

A grievance is defined as an alleged violation of an express provision of the Memorandum of Understanding. Any grievance defined as a dispute between the City or any representative of the City and any employee or group of employees covered by this Memorandum of Understanding over the application, meaning or interpretation of a specific article of this Memorandum of Understanding.

Step 1. The aggrieved employee and the Union Steward shall discuss the grievance with his/her immediate supervisor, within fifteen (15) business days of the latter of (a) the date of the alleged violation or (b) the date an employee acquires knowledge of the alleged violation. The Steward and Immediate Supervisor shall discuss the grievance providing a full investigation into the circumstances and shall attempt to adjust the grievance at this step and shall respond to the aggrieved employee within five (5) business days. The Union Steward shall be a vocal representative of said employee and file grievances as provided.

Step 2. The Business Representative of the Local Union shall commit the grievance to writing stating the nature of the alleged violation and the applicable Article of the MOU which shall be submitted and discussed, within ten (10) business days, with the appropriate Division Director. Both the Union Steward and the Division Director or his/her designee may request the presence of the Supervisor and the aggrieved employee in an effort to resolve the grievance at

23

this step or any other parties when by mutual agreement only. If the Director's decision is not made in writing within seven (7) business days, it shall be considered resolved in the Union's favor, unless an extension of time is mutually agreed to.

Step 3. The Union shall then review the answer of the Division Director and indicate in writing its acceptance or its rejection and request for arbitration if desired within fifteen (15) business days after the rendering of the Division Director's written decision unless extended by mutual agreement. The decision of the Division Director shall be mailed certified mail to the Union Office, return receipt requested. The Union in submitting its request for arbitration as provided hereafter shall send said request certified mail to the Mayor with a copy by regular mail to the City Attorney. Failure of the Union to request arbitration within fifteen (15) business days shall be considered acceptance of the decision; and the answer of the Division Director shall be considered satisfactory. The Union shall have the right to take up suspensions and/or discharges within ten (10) business days at Step 2 of the grievance procedure, and the matter shall be handled in accordance with this procedure through the arbitration step if deemed necessary by the Union.

SECTION 2 - ARBITRATION PROCEDURES

The arbitrator shall have access to all written statements and documents pertaining to the appeals in the grievance, but the arbitrator shall have no power to amend, revise, add to, nor subtract from, nor modify any terms of this Memorandum of Understanding and shall be strictly limited to the interpretation or application of the express provisions of this Memorandum of Understanding and any other Memorandum made supplementary thereto.

SELECTION OF THE ARBITRATOR: The arbitrator shall be jointly selected by the Union and the City. If within five (5) business days after the request for arbitration is made, the Union and the City fail to agree upon the appointment of

an arbitrator, a request will be made to the American Arbitration Association or the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service for a list of five (5) arbitrators.

The Union and the City may select one arbitrator off of the lists, or if they still cannot agree, the following procedures shall be followed: The party presenting the grievance shall be given the first opportunity to strike the name of one of the arbitrators contained in said list. The other party may then proceed to strike a name and this procedure shall continue until one arbitrator's name remains. The arbitrator whose name remains shall be designated as the arbitrator. In the event the arbitrator designated declines to act, the procedure of striking names shall be reinstated until an arbitrator willing to act has been selected.

ARBITRATION PROCEDURES: The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within ten (10) business days after receipt of the request to arbitrate. The arbitrator's decision shall be in writing and shall set forth the arbitrator's finding of facts, opinion and conclusion on the issues submitted.

The cost of the services of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Union and the City Division. The arbitrator shall render his/her decision not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the conclusion of the final hearings.

There shall be final and binding arbitration on suspension and discharge with the arbitrator chosen as above. The arbitrator shall have the power to rule on such disputes involving suspension or discharge under this MOU provided that he/she shall have no power to add to, subtract from or modify any terms of this MOU or any other Agreements made supplementary hereto. All decisions shall be reported to the Chief Administrative Officer of the City of Memphis and to the Union. The decision shall be a matter of public record and shall be advisory to the Chief Administrative Officer, who is hereby designated by the Mayor to render a final binding decision.

The failure of the appropriate union representative to respond as required in any of the steps within the time provided shall be considered as acceptance of the answer. The failure of the appropriate city representative to respond as required in any steps of the grievance procedure shall be considered as upholding the grievance. It is agreed that the City shall make available management representatives to testify at the request of the Union when such persons have information involving the action being arbitrated. This request shall be made in writing to the Chief Administrative Officer at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the hearing, or orally no later than the beginning of the hearing.

SECTION 3 – CONTROLLING LANGUAGE

If there exists a conflict between this Memorandum of Understanding and City of Memphis departmental policies or work rules, the language of the Memorandum of Understanding shall control.

ARTICLE 19 GENERAL PROVISIONS

SECTION 1

When a Layoutman is required, as determined by the City, provisions for such classification designations shall be established in accordance with Appendix "A" of each craft.

- (A) Where a Layoutman is assigned, supervisors will make an effort to relay instructions to the Layoutman rather than to the individual employee.
- (B) The Layoutman has the right to instruct, counsel, correct, or admonish an employee concerning the employee's conduct or work performance. However, when the conduct or work performance of an employee is questioned to a degree that it may become a disciplinary matter of permanent record in his/her Official Personnel File, then it is agreed that the employee concerned has a right to meet with his/her Union Steward, designated Supervisor and Layoutman. All

employees under this Memorandum of Understanding, shall be allowed to check their personnel records at a mutually agreed time.

- (C) The senior most qualified journeyman within the craft shall be considered.
- (D) The City, at its sole discretion, may designate a "Crew Leader" when five or more employees are working together without direct supervision.
- (E) Crew Leaders will receive their assignments from the City. The City will first consider the senior most qualified journeyman to be Crew Leader, but may appoint a Crew Leader who is not the senior most qualified journeyman.

SECTION 3

The City shall pay for traveling time and furnish transportation, from the assigned reporting place other than the employee's home to the place where the work is to be performed. The City shall also provide return transportation and pay for traveling time to the assigned reporting place, other than the employee's home.

- (A) When an employee reports for work as scheduled and is excused from duty before completing four (4) hours work, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay for four (4) hours work. When an employee is excused from duty after having completed more than four (4) hours work, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay for the actual hours worked.
- (B) Employees shall not be required to work outside in case of snow, ice conditions, rain, storms or tornadoes, except in cases of emergency or when needed to maintain or restore service to citizens.
- (C) An employee who reports to work as scheduled may elect to work the full day as long as the employee can be productive in an assigned task, and shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay. When craft employees are assigned to work with another craft, such assignment shall be of temporary nature and contingent upon adverse conditions.

(D) The City shall furnish suitable shelter from the weather, when possible. When an employee is required to work in inclement weather, each such employee shall be furnished, at the City's expense, suitable rain gear consisting of pants and jacket with hood. Employees shall be responsible for the return of such items at the end of the work day and shall return them in as good condition as they were received from the City, with the exception of normal wear and tear.

SECTION 5

All safety measures must be observed by both the City and its employees and adequate lighting will be provided by the City for night work. The City will furnish hard hats when necessary and employees shall be required to wear them while on duty. All other safety and protective devices which may be required by the City shall be supplied by the City on all hazardous work in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act Standards as applicable to the City of Memphis on July 1, 1973.

To address any safety questions which may arise during the term of this Agreement, the union may request that the affected bureau manager, the OSHA Coordinator for the Division in question, the Union's business manager, and the affected Union steward meet to resolve any conflicts. If the committee, as described above, fails to come to agreement on resolution of the safety issue in question, the committee members may seek resolution from the Director of Human Resources or his/her designee.

SECTION 6

The City may, at its discretion, recognize the existing Joint Apprenticeship and Training Trust Funds as established in conformity with the National Apprenticeship and Training Standards for the applicable crafts which have been approved by the U.S. Department of Labor and the Bureau of Apprenticeship and Training. The recognition shall be in accordance with the respective trade

28

agreements of each craft. Such conditions and terms shall be set forth in Appendix "A" of this Memorandum.

SECTION 7

The City shall pay to all employees whose regular scheduled shift is a second or third shift, a premium for all time worked during these shifts as provided in Appendix "A" of this Memorandum of Understanding.

SECTION 8

High Time pay shall be any work performed on television or radio towers, or light standards not accessible by aerial equipment (e.g., McCarver Stadium, Collierville High School). This rate is applicable when work is performed fifty (50) feet or more above ground, floor or water level and is compensable at fifty percent (50%) above the regular rate.

ARTICLE 20 DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

SECTION 1

Disciplinary action or measures shall involve only the following progressive measures for each type of offense, except violations or major infractions where progressive steps may or may not be followed:

- (A) Oral reprimand
- (B) Written reprimand
- (C) Suspension not to exceed five (5) days
- (D) Discharge

A formal oral reprimand may be given to an employee, but must be given in the presence of a steward. The oral reprimand will not become a part of the

employee's permanent record, but the date of the oral reprimand shall be noted for the purpose of establishing the fact that an oral reprimand did occur.

The employer shall not suspend or discharge any regular employee without just cause. In any case involving suspension or discharge, the employee may contest the suspension or discharge by use of the grievance procedure. The employee that elects to use the grievance procedure may not elect to appeal a suspension or discharge to the Civil Service Commission. Conversely, the employee who elects to appeal a suspension or discharge to the Civil Service Commission may not use the grievance procedure. The employee, his/her steward and the Union will be notified in writing that the employee has been suspended and is subject to discharge. The notice to the Union shall be by certified mail. Notice to the employee and the Union will satisfy technical complaints. Any employee found to be unjustly suspended or discharged shall be reinstated with full restoration of his/her rights and conditions of employment including seniority.

Any grievance decision which directs compensation for time lost shall be made less temporary earnings during said period.

No material placed in the employee's personnel folder including any evaluation of the employee shall be used to discipline the employee unless a true copy is first given to the employee.

In no event will the progressive steps be applied to different types of offenses, for example, an employee receiving an oral reprimand for tardiness shall not be given a written reprimand for a first offense, not related to tardiness.

It is understood that any employee who does not receive any disciplinary action for a period of six (6) months shall have his or her records cleared for the purpose of progressive discipline.

30

SECTION 2 - MAJOR INFRACTIONS

It is agreed that the following offenses are defined as major infractions:

- 1. Intoxication on the job as a result of alcohol and/or controlled substance consumption *
- 2. Fighting on the job
- 3. Theft
- 4. Deliberately damaging City property
- 5. Gross insubordination
- 6. Accepting bribes
- 7. Unauthorized use of City property
- 8. Deliberately falsifying City records
- 9. The use of abusive language or unacceptable treatment of a citizen or City employee

It is further agreed that the above infractions cannot be changed, altered, added to, or subtracted from, unless by mutual agreement between the Union and the City. All offenses other than those defined as major herein, shall be classified as minor.

* Negative reactions to prescribed drug use will not be considered a major infraction provided the employee submits a statement from the prescribing physician documenting such reaction. Two or more such incidences within a twelve-month period shall be cause for a management referral to the Employee Assistance Program (EAP).

ARTICLE 21 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

The City will provide a tuition reimbursement program for all regular employees covered by this memorandum. To be eligible for benefits in this Article, an employee must have completed his/her required initial probationary period. Courses must be approved by both the Division Director and the Director of Human Resources at least five (5) days prior to the beginning of classes. Employees should refer to the Tuition Reimbursement Policy (PM 58-03) or contact the Division of Human Resources for further information on program criteria, eligible expenses and procedures for reimbursement.

ARTICLE 22 TERM OF AGREEMENT/SPENDING CLAUSE

SECTION 1 - Terms of Agreement

The City of Memphis proposes a 1-year MOU agreement for economic and noneconomic items effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022.

SECTION 2 - Spending Clause

Pursuant to City Ordinance No. 2-370(b)(7)the parties agree, notwithstanding any provision of this Memorandum of Understanding to the contrary, neither this memorandum nor any actions taken by either party hereto or by any arbitrator appointed hereunder shall be binding upon the Memphis City Council, which is not a party hereto. Specifically, no provision of the memorandum shall affect in any way the legislative power and discretion of the Council to set budgets and appropriate City funds. All economic matters covered by this Memorandum shall be always subject adequate appropriations by the Council. The execution of this Memorandum by the appropriate representative(s) of the City indicates that the terms, conditions, and provisions of this memorandum as being the total package on economic and non-economic items which both parties approved during their recent discussion of labor issues.

APPENDIX "A"

SECTION 1 - RECOGNITION

Following are the classifications recognized by the City which are within the jurisdiction of the Bargaining Unit:

Maintenance Painters

SECTION 2 – WAGES

Effective July 1, 2021 the current wages of employees covered by this Memorandum of Understanding shall be increased by 0%.

GRADE	JCC#	JOB TITLE			HOURLY	PAY PERIOD	MONTHLY	ANNUALLY
20	F561PA	PAINTER			\$30.1946	\$2,411.97	\$5,225.77	\$62,711.22
30	F560PA F560PE	PAINTER/LD (1) SIGNS & MARKING PAINTE	R/LD (1)		\$31.1496	\$2,491.97	\$5,399.10	\$64,791.22
10	F562PA	PAINTER/APPRENTICE	6 MOS 12 MOS 18 MOS 24 MOS	45.0% 55.0% 65.0% 70.0% 75.0% 85.0%	\$13.5674 \$16.5824 \$19.5973 \$21.1050 \$22.6124 \$25.6273	\$1,085.39 \$1,326.59 \$1,567.78 \$1,688.40 \$1,808.99 \$2,050.18	\$2,351.61 \$2,874.19 \$3,396.75 \$3,658.09 \$3,919.36 \$4,441.92	\$28,220.14 \$34,491.34 \$40,762.28 \$43,898.40 \$47,033.74 \$53,304.68

LONGEVITY:

All employees covered under this Memorandum shall receive the following yearly premium in addition to their regular wages:

<u>10 Years</u>	<u>15 Years</u>	<u>20 Years</u>	25 years/above
\$150.00	\$200.00	\$225.00	\$425.00

HAZARDOUS DUTY:

All employees listed in APPPENDIX "A", SECTION 1 that are assigned to the WTP (Wastewater Treatment Plant) shall receive a hazard pay premium of an additional 3% per hour. All other employees, not assigned to the WTP, shall receive a hazard pay premium of an additional 1.5% per hour. This will be in addition to any other pay differential applicable to that employee.

Monthly Rates	Effective 7/1/2021		
Maintenance Painter	\$5,174.04		
Signs & Marking Painter	\$5,174.04		

Maintenance Painter/LD (Signs & Marking Painter/L <u>Apprentice Rates</u>	,	\$5,347.36 \$5,347.36
Painter/APP	Entry - 45% Journeyman Rate 6 months - 55% Journeyman Rate 12 months - 65% Journeyman Rate	\$2,328.32 \$2,845.74 \$3,363.13
	18 months - 70% Journeyman Rate 24 months - 75% Journeyman Rate 30 months - 85% Journeyman Rate	\$3,621.86 \$3,880.55 \$4,397.94

In addition to all wages, the City shall contribute into the apprentice training program (as long as there is an apprentice employed): Five cents (.05) for every hour worked up to forty (40) hours per work week per painter.

NOTES

(1) Receives lead differential of \$1.00 per hour (shown above).

As an incentive not included in base pay above, the City agrees to pay all employees who work a fixed, non-rotating swing shift an additional \$.40 per hour and all employees who work a fixed, non-rotating graveyard shift an additional \$.60 per hour.

Six (6) month probationary period effective 7-1-96

SECTION 2.A

A Layoutman, designated by the City, shall receive \$1.00 per hour above the Journeyman wage rate and shall be selected by the City on the basis of seniority-if-qualified.

A Crew Leader designated by the City shall receive \$.50 per hour above their pay rate.

The City agrees to provide an allowance of \$.25 per hour for those craft employees with Master's licenses who are required to obtain permits for the City.

SECTION 3 - SHIFT PREMIUM

The City agrees to pay all employees who work a swing shift an additional \$0.60 per hour starting FY 2022. The City also agrees to pay all employees who work a graveyard shift an additional \$0.80 per hour starting FY 2022.

Individual City departments will determine and post shift times (day, swing, and graveyard) available for shift pick selection. Final shift pick will be completed by all employees and posted a minimum of two weeks prior to actual commencement of the work for new shift times.

Individual City departments will determine and post shift times (day, swing, and graveyard) for rotating personnel. Schedules will be posted a minimum of three (3) months in advance of rotation.

SECTION 4 - UNIFORM PROVISIONS

The City agrees to provide an annual payment for the purchase of uniforms to employees covered by this agreement. This annual payment will be Four Hundred Fifty dollars (\$450).

Employees will be in the uniform specified by the City at all times during working hours. Employees who report for duty without the proper uniform shall not be considered as reporting ready to work.

This annual payment will be paid directly to the employee on his/her regular paycheck, on the second pay period in July (which is at the beginning of each new fiscal year).

IBEW, Bricklayers, Carpenters, Cement, Roofers, Painters, and Plumbers

SIGNATURE PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties agree and affix their signatures below on this _____ day of _____, 2021 to place into effect the provisions of this Agreement.

FOR THE:

FOR THE:

CRAFT'S ASSOCIATION

Paul J. Shaffer, Business Manager IBEW Local 474

Th

J. DeWitt, Asst. Business Manager

IBEW Local 474

Im McAlister/Business Manager IUPAT DC 80

Brandon Osbahr, Business Manager United Plumbers Local 17

Jeremy Sa lost Jeremy Talent, Business Manager

Carpenters Local 345

CITY OF MEMPHIS

Antonio Adams, Director Division of General Services

Robert Knecht, Director Division of Public Works

Manny Belen, Director Division of Engineering

Alex Smith, CHRO Division of Human Resources